Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

4-25-2018

Verity v. USA Today Appellant's Brief Dckt. 45530

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case.

This permissive appeal presents constitutional issues of first impression in Idaho; namely, whether truthful publications on matters of public concern may nonetheless be actionable and, if so, under what circumstances, and whether a public school teacher and coach should be deemed a public official for purposes of constitutional scrutiny on matters of public concern.

Respondent James Verity ("Mr. Verity") lost his teaching license in Oregon after the middle school teacher and high school coach admitted to an "inappropriate physical relationship involving sexual contact" with an 18-year-old high school student athlete. When reinstatement of his license proved unsuccessful in Oregon, Mr. Verity moved to Idaho where he obtained both a teaching certificate and job as a high school teacher and girls' basketball coach. Appellants KGW and KTVB broadcast stories that truthfully described Mr. Verity's Oregon license revocation and subsequent employment in Idaho. Such stories were local stories related to a Pulitzer Prize nominated report by Appellants USA Today and Stephen Reilly into the issue of disparate teacher discipline tracking systems at the state and local level and, more specifically, teachers guilty of serious misconduct finding their way back into the classroom. Mr. Verity voluntarily resigned his positions in Idaho after his history of misconduct in Oregon became widely known. Thereafter, Mr. and Mrs. Verity sued Appellants for defamation, invasion of privacy, and infliction of emotional distress.¹

Mr. Verity admits the truth of every material statement that the Appellants published, but

¹ Mrs. Verity's claims were dismissed by the trial court and are not the subject of this appeal. R. 1536-1540.

asserts that false implications in each of the publications constitute defamation, invasion of privacy, and emotional distress. Appellants moved for summary judgment on all claims since the publications are true and/or substantially true, privileged, and because Mr. Verity was unable to demonstrate actual malice by each of the Appellants. The district court refused to dismiss Mr. Verity's claims, reframing his defamation claim as one for "defamation by implication" and finding that despite the truth of each statement, a jury could infer falsehoods and intent by each Appellant sufficient to sustain such claim and the related claims of false light invasion of privacy and intentional and negligent infliction of emotional distress. Given the significant constitutional issues involved, Appellants immediately moved for permissive appeal of the district court's decision by this Court.

B. Statement of Facts.

1. Mr. Verity's Teaching/Coaching History in Oregon, Inappropriate Relationship with Student-Athlete, and License Revocation.

The Teacher Standards and Practices Commission ("TSPC") licensed Mr. Verity to teach in Oregon (R. 245; 1377 at 26:11-13), and during the 2004-2005 school year, he taught and coached at the middle school in Prineville, Oregon and was the head varsity girls' basketball and softball coach at the high school. R. 247-250; 1377 at 27:9-29:23. Mr. Verity first met Rachael Conley in 2001 when she was a freshman on his junior varsity basketball team at Crook County High School. R. 1379 at 34:22-35:6. Mr. Verity continued to coach Rachael when she played on the school's varsity basketball team her junior and senior years. R. 1379 at 35:12-24. During her senior year (2004-2005), Rachael was also a Juvenile Tutor assigned to Mr. Verity's middle school science class for which she received academic credit. R. 254; 1379 at 36:9-38:16. During

this same time, Rachael lived at her friend's house during the week. R. 254; 262.

Beginning in the spring of 2005, Mr. Verity began having "an inappropriate physical relationship involving sexual contact (defined in OAR 584-20-005(a)(b)(c))" with Rachael. R. 254-257. *See also* R. 296 at ¶ 6. From February 28, 2005 to May 25, 2005, investigators found:

[a]pproximately 2,625 text messages between Mr. Verity and Rachel Conley [sic] . . . many of these messages took place from 10:00 pm to 6:00 am in the morning – often lasting hours on end. Others took place during Mr. Verity's work hours while on duty at Crook County Middle School.

R. 252. These text messages – many sexual in nature – began in November 2004. R. 296 at ¶ 4; 1381 at 42:14-43:1. Investigators also found "[a]pproximately 507 hours of phone conversations between Mr. Verity and Rachael Conley which took place between November 22, 2004 and May 25, 2005." R. 252. Finally, investigators found that "Mr. Verity engaged in inappropriate physical conduct" with Rachael, which included "kissing on the lips, neck and earlobe, grinding his pelvis in her pelvic area and touching her breasts and groin area." R. 296 at ¶ 6. Mr. Verity admits to at least two separate incidents where he had inappropriate physical contact with Rachael. R. 1381-1382 at 43:2-16; 43:17-46:1.

On June 9, 2005, Crook County relieved Mr. Verity of his coaching duties. R. 280; 1390 at 79:20-80:14. On July 11, 2005, Mr. Verity agreed to resign "from his employment in lieu of termination" in exchange, *inter alia*, for the District agreeing to provide him with a reference for future employment "without mention of this agreement or the events giving rise thereto." R. 284 at ¶¶ 3, 6; 1391 at 82:25-83:13. Mr. Verity was concerned about giving prospective employers

information about his "ethical violation" because of its potential negative impact on his ability to get new employment. R. 1391 at 85:12-20. Mr. Verity resigned on July 11, 2005, and the school district provided him with a letter of reference for future employers that did not include any details of Mr. Verity's inappropriate relationship with Rachael. R. 287.

From August 2005 through April 2006, TSPC conducted an investigation into Mr. Verity's actions, the result of which was a Stipulation of Facts, Order of Revocation and Probation dated August 4, 2006. R. 295-298. Under this Stipulation and Order, the TSPC revoked Mr. Verity's Oregon teaching license for one (1) year from the date of the Order (*e.g.*, August 4, 2006) and held that if his license was reinstated, a four (4) year probation would be imposed upon Mr. Verity subject to special terms and conditions. R. 297.

2. Mr. Verity Fails to Reinstate his Oregon Teaching License.

Beginning on July 11, 2007, Mr. Verity reapplied for his Oregon teaching license. R. 303-310; 1396 at 104:16-105:2; 312-316; 1397 at 109:4-13. The TSPC required Mr. Verity to complete several conditions, including a complete psychological evaluation. *See* R. 295-298. To that end, Mr. Verity was seen and evaluated by James R. Hamer, MS, and Michelle Whitehead, Ph.D. R. 1398-1400 at 111:2-121:9.

Dr. Whitehead submitted a comprehensive evaluation of Mr. Verity to the TSPC. R. 329-333. Her report included seven conclusions and recommendations (R. 332-333), including "Mr. Verity should not coach female high school students" and "If Mr. Verity returns to teaching he should not be alone with any female student over the age of 12." R. 332-333. On June 11, 2008, the TSPC denied Mr. Verity's application for reinstatement because he "failed to

establish fitness to serve as an educator." R. 344-347. Mr. Verity appealed this decision. R. 349; 1403 at 130:14-25.

3. Mr. Verity Applies for Idaho Teaching License.

While his reinstatement proceedings were pending in Oregon, Mr. Verity submitted an application for an Idaho teaching license (R. 335-337; 1400-1401 at 121:23-122:14) wherein he reported that TSPC officials "decided to reinstate my license based on another letter of stipulation." R. 335. Later Mr. Verity submitted materials in support of his application to Idaho officials. R. 351-362. Mr. Verity's application materials do not disclose the facts underlying his resignation from Crook County or his license revocation. R. 335-337; 351-362; 1401 at 122:15-123:3; 1402 at 126:15-25; 1403-1404 at 133:20-134:11. Mr. Verity's teaching license has never been reinstated in Oregon. R. 1401 at 125:14-22.

Idaho officials denied Mr. Verity's application for a teaching certificate based on "your conduct in Oregon." R. 364. Mr. Verity appealed this denial and retained his brother-in-law, Mr. Shepherd, to assist him in the appeal. R. 366-367.

4. Mr. Verity Pursues Appeals in Idaho and Oregon.

On September 30, 2008, the Idaho Professional Standards Commission of the Department of Education of the State of Idaho ("Idaho PSC") denied Mr. Verity's application, but held "the record" open until April 1, 2009 to allow Mr. Verity to supplement his submissions. R. 75 at ¶ 34; 369-374. Thereafter, Mr. Verity provided additional materials. R. 1406 at 144:14-145:3.

Mr. Verity's application for reinstatement in Oregon was denied on February 23, 2009.

R. 378. In so doing, the TSPC relied upon Dr. Whitehead's "reservations about Mr. Verity's

trustworthiness to teach female students" and her opinion that "Mr. Verity should not coach high school aged girls or be left alone with female students over 12" to conclude that "these restrictions disqualify Mr. Verity from being fit and trustworthy to hold a license." R. 377. "The Commission also finds that Mr. Verity has not fully acknowledged the extent of his misconduct." R. 377.

A month later, Mr. Verity's counsel submitted supplemental materials to Idaho's Chief Certification Officer, Christina Linder. R. 381-400. Based on these materials, the Idaho PSC entered an order directing Ms. Linder "to grant Mr. Verity's Application for an Idaho teaching credential." R. 405.

5. Veritys Move to Idaho and Obtain Idaho Teaching License Over Objection of Idaho's Chief Certification Officer.

The Verity family moved to Idaho in June 2009. R. 1400 at 121:18-22. By mid-July 2009, Ms. Linder had not issued an Idaho teaching credential to Mr. Verity, prompting Mr. Shepherd to write a letter to the Idaho Attorney General's Office:

it is my understanding that, despite the Panel's order, the chief certification officer ("CCO") intends to issue a license to Mr. Verity with conditions. . . . that Mr. Verity disclose with all teaching applications that he had his Oregon teaching license revoked. The obvious intent of such a condition is to effectively render Mr. Verity's license useless despite the Panel's order to issue a license. *This condition serves no purpose except to make it extremely difficult for Mr. Verity to get a job*.

R. 409-410 (emphasis added).) Accordingly, he demanded that the CCO "immediately comply with the Panel's order" or he threatened to file a lawsuit to compel such action. R. 410. Ms. Linder and counsel reviewed Mr. Shepherd's demand, and Ms. Linder capitulated, writing: "Counsel & I have reviewed – *will issue certificate against my will*." R. 407 (emphasis added).

Idaho issued Mr. Verity a teaching certificate in July 2009. R. 75 at ¶ 36.

6. Mr. Verity's Teaching Positions in Idaho.

After obtaining his Idaho teaching certificate, Mr. Verity applied for several teaching positions in Ada and Canyon County, Idaho. R. 75 at ¶ 37. Although Mr. Verity disclosed the circumstances surrounding his license revocation in Oregon to Idaho *state licensing officials*, he did not provide the same information in his application materials to *local schools*. *See*, *e.g.*, R. 413; 1412 at 166:21-167:11 (Verity application to Caldwell School District states that he was a teacher in Oregon who "resigned from teaching position, contractor opportunity").

In August/September 2010, Mr. Verity began as a physical science teacher at Caldwell High School and coached boys' basketball. R. 75 at ¶ 38; 1412 at 166:2-20; 1412-1413 at 169:10-171:7. On February 22, 2013, Caldwell placed Mr. Verity on administrative leave after reports that he had "made inappropriate contact with female students in [his] classroom. These allegations include tickling, slapping girls on the butt, and comments made about punching/hitting when students need to go to the restroom." R. 417. An investigation was conducted during which "[a] number of students verified that [Mr. Verity] hit students on the behind, back of the legs, arms and/or head with a ruler during class time." R. 419-420.

After concluding its investigation, on February 27, 2013, Caldwell High School issued a formal letter of reprimand to Mr. Verity, stating:

Your actions regarding hitting of students during the 2012-2013 school year, have been unprofessional and detrimental to the well being of the students you have hit, as well as the other students in the classroom. . . . As a result, this letter of reprimand is warranted. In the future, you are expected to not, under any circumstance, touch or have any physical contact with any student at any time that

may reasonably be interpreted as threatening or endangering the student's welfare.

R. 419.

On June 12, 2014, Mr. Verity submitted an application to the Vallivue School District for a sixth grade science teaching position at Sage Valley Middle School. R. 435-438; 1419 at 197:7-13. In the application, Mr. Verity described his departure from the Crook County School District as "resigned position. Obtained contracting license and opening contracting business." R. 436. In response to a question of whether he had "any disciplinary action taken against you for misconduct?" Mr. Verity replied "No." R. 437. On July 15, 2014, Caldwell accepted Mr. Verity's resignation (R. 442), and he began work at Sage Valley Middle School in the Vallivue School District. R. 1422 at 206:5-207:5.

In November 2014, Mr. Verity applied to coach basketball at Eagle High School and started coaching the freshman-sophomore team. R. 444-451; 1422 at 207:7-208:22. Nothing in Mr. Verity's application to coach basketball at Eagle High School disclosed the reasons for his resignation from Crook County Middle School and the revocation of his Oregon teaching license, nor did Mr. Verity disclose these facts to anyone at Eagle High School. R. 444-451; 1422 at 208:23-209:18.

7. Mr. Reilly and USA Today Begin Yearlong, National Investigation Into Tracking Teacher Discipline at State and Local Level.

USA Today is a newspaper of nationwide circulation (R. 629; 659), and Mr. Reilly is an Investigative Reporter and Data Specialist with USA Today. R. 204 at 12:6-9; 205 at 13:11-18. In late 2014, Mr. Reilly and his editor "noticed news coverage of teacher misconduct and wanted

to do a national analysis of teacher misconduct to identify any issues in the systems that are meant to protect students from teacher misconduct." R. 206 at 17:18-19:12. To that end, in January 2015, Mr. Reilly "began sending a series of records requests to education agencies in each state to obtain databases and other records pertaining to teachers who have been disciplined and teachers who are licensed." R. 206 at 19:22-20:1. This was a "very long and sometimes complicated process" (R. 206 at 20:10-16) and involved Mr. Reilly "analyz[ing] teacher misconduct data from every state from which [he] had received it and compar[ing] it to names of teachers who may be currently teaching in other states." R. 209 at 29:11-14.

Once much of Mr. Reilly's database work had been collected and analyzed, USA Today "distributed [its] data to journalists in every state in which [it had] a partner organization." R. 207 at 23:5-10; see also R. 207 at 23:19-21 ("USA Today worked with reporters at [Gannett] newspapers and TEGNA news stations as part of this project."). KGW, a Portland based television station, and KTVB, a Boise based television station, are part of the TEGNA group of news stations and were invited to use the materials gathered by USA Today to do their own reporting on a local level. R. 118 at ¶ 2; 207 at 22:8-23:25; 208 at 28:7-9; 211 at 49:6-25; 619-620. "Mr. Verity's name was one of the names of teachers included in the data." R. 209 at 29:21-22.

After reviewing the publically available information about Mr. Verity, Mr. Reilly "conducted an investigation of [Mr. Verity's] teaching in Idaho, including contacting school administrators in that state in systems in which he was working or had worked." R. 210 at 34:3-8. Mr. Reilly recorded each of his phone calls as well as his interview with Mr. Verity.

R. 210 at 36:2-20; *see also* Supp. R. at DKK Dec. Exs. 77-84. In one such call, Caldwell School District Superintendent Jodi Mills informed Mr. Reilly, after reviewing district records, that her district was unaware of Mr. Reilly's license revocation and underlying behavior in Oregon at the time it hired him and, had the district known those facts, it would "absolutely" have been a concern. R. 215 at 67:7-18; 216 at 71:22-72:2; Supp. R. at DKK Dec. Ex. 80.

On February 8, 2016, Mr. Reilly emailed Mr. Verity to let him know about his forthcoming article and to ask to speak with him about the article because "it is important to me [Reilly] that I hear your side of the story and incorporate your perspective into my article – especially if you feel the descriptions in the [Oregon Teacher Discipline proceedings] are inaccurate, incomplete or unfair in any way." R. 455; 1423 at 210:13-211:14. Mr. Verity did not respond to Mr. Reilly's email. R. 1423-1424 at 213:6-215:17. Mr. Reilly continued to reach out to Mr. Verity for comment, finally reaching him on his classroom telephone on February 10, 2016, which Mr. Reilly recorded. R. 457-458; 1424 at 215:21-216:8; Supp. R. at DKK Dec. Exs. 79-84. Mr. Reilly memorialized this brief phone interview in writing, which he later emailed to KGW and KTVB. *Id.* Mr. Verity reviewed this memorialization during his deposition and confirmed its accuracy. R. 457-458; 562-563; 1424-1426 at 216:19-222:17; Supp. R. at DKK Dec. Ex. 84.

8. KGW and KTVB Begin Reporting on Story.

John Tierney is an Executive Producer at KGW in Portland and worked with Mr. Reilly on the teacher misconduct story. R. 118-119 at ¶¶ 1, 5, 7; 207-208 at 23:22-25:2; 670. Mr. Tierney received, and relied upon, the data and information shared by USA Today and

Mr. Reilly concerning Mr. Verity. R. 188 at ¶ 4; 674-676. In addition, KGW did its own investigative reporting into Mr. Verity. R. 188 at ¶ 6; 676; 688-689. Mr. Tierney and KGW shared information by and with KTVB and its reporter Tami Tremblay, including Ms. Tremblay's contacts with school officials in Idaho in reporting its own story. R. 119 at ¶ 7; 677.

Ms. Tremblay is an investigative reporter/anchor/producer at KTVB in Boise who worked on the teacher misconduct story beginning in about January 2016. R. 208 at 25:23-28:3; 223 at 11:8-12; 225-226 at 24:23-25:8; 226 at 28:15-23. Ms. Tremblay received materials, including teaching discipline and licensing databases, from USA Today and Mr. Reilly regarding a "companywide investigation" that had a working title of "The Dishonor Roll," R. 224-225 at 18:18-21:17, and that the KGW story was going to focus on Mr. Verity. R. 119 at ¶ 8; 225 at 21:21-23:9; 474. The reporters shared copies of Mr. Verity's discipline records from Oregon and records related to his license to teach in Idaho. R. 119 at ¶ 8; 227 at 29:4-31:17; 476-77.

Ms. Tremblay first attempted to contact Mr. Verity by email on February 5, 2016. R. 171 at 211:18-212:6; 453. Ms. Tremblay also attempted to contact Mr. Verity through social media to request an interview. None of these efforts was successful. R. 230-231 at 44:19-45:4; 1423 at 213:1-4. Ms. Tremblay also reached out to a number of Idaho officials, R. 227 at 31:18-25; 230 at 41:18-42:7, including Idaho Department of Education spokesperson, Jeff Church, who spoke to Ms. Tremblay on camera about the process of teacher licensing in Idaho. R. 227-228 at 32:14-33:3; 576-579.

On February 5, 2016, Ms. Tremblay emailed Vallivue School District Superintendent Pat Charlton, indicating that she was working on a story with "our sister station in Portland" and hoped that Dr. Charlton would help her gather information or provide a statement based on the following information:

A 6th grade teacher currently at Sage Valley Middle School received disciplinary action in Oregon for having inappropriate behavior with a student. The Oregon Board of Education never reported the information to the national database, NASDTEC, so Idaho had no idea when issuing him a license to teach here. He is certainly not the only teacher, but I wanted to get the district's take on this information . . .

R. 573. Superintendent Charlton confirmed the accuracy of Ms. Tremblay's information. R. 573. *See also* R. 230 at 43:18-44:16. Ms. Tremblay shared this information with Mr. Tierney on the same day. R. 522-523. Mr. Reilly was able to get more substantive information from Dr. Charlton on February 8, 2016, R. 230 at 43:13-44:13; 583, which he in turn shared with Mr. Tierney and Ms. Tremblay. R. 581-585.

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