#### **Uldaho Law**

## Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-22-2018

## Verity v. USA Today Respondent's Brief Dckt. 45530

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

Preliminarily, it should be noted that Appellants' and *Amici's* contention repeated throughout their respective briefs that Verity concedes all stated facts in the publications at issue are true is disingenuous at best and intentionally misleading of this Court at worst. The article contained expressed false statements of fact as well as implied falsehoods. For example, as demonstrated below, the CSD was aware of the circumstances leading to Verity's Oregon license revocation prior to him being hired, yet the articles contend CSD was not aware. This false statement of fact was contained in each of the publications at issue. Additionally, the KTVB

story states that Verity was not included in the NASDTEC database when, in fact, he was in the database. Additionally, KTVB's story states, "Verity was denied a new teaching license." Nowhere in the article was it expressly stated he received an Idaho license, something all Appellants undisputedly knew before running any of the stories. Although the primary concern and most damaging aspect of this case is the implied messages the publications at issue convey of and concerning Verity when read as a whole, the various news stories also contain expressed statements of fact that are not true. These expressed misstatements of fact advance the overall false narrative, more thoroughly discussed below, about Verity in the various publications at issue.

## 1. <u>The United States Supreme Court Has Neither Modified Nor Abrogated The Common Law Of Defamation.</u>

At common law, "reputation was a dignitary interest of such importance that, it was not only legally protected, the onus of publishing even truthful defamatory statements was placed on the publisher." Dienes & Lee Levine, *Implied Libel, Defamatory Meaning, and State of Mind: The Promise of New York Times Co. v. Sullivan*, 78 IOWA L. REV. 237, 245 (1993). As Lord Mansfield explained, "Whatever a man publishes, he publishes at his peril." *Id.* (quoting *King v. Woodfall*, 98 Eng. Rep. 914, 976 (K.B. 1774). Protection of one's reputation was the primary goal of the common law tort of defamation. *See id.* at 248.

In order to recover for defamation at common law, a plaintiff was required to prove that the defendant: (1) communicated information concerning the plaintiff to others; (2) that the

Verity concedes that the article implies that he was licensed in Idaho. Nevertheless, if we are going to pretend, as Appellants and *Amici* ask this Court to do, that readers read only the literal words without regard to the context in which those words are used, or that the author only intends to convey what is literally written without regard to context, then that must go both ways. By Appellants' and *Amici's* logic, the statement "Verity was denied a new teaching license" should be an actionable false statement of fact because it is literally not true.

information was defamatory; and (3) that the plaintiff was damaged because of the communication. See Clark v. Spokesman-Review, 144 Idaho 427, 430, 163 P.3d 216, 219 (2007) (citing Gough v. Tribune-Journal Co., 73 Idaho 173, 177, 249 P.2d 192, 194 (1952)). Truth of a defamatory statement was an affirmative defense that need be proven by the defendant.

The U.S Supreme Court has modified the common law in an effort to balance the freedom of speech and press guaranteed under the First Amendment to the U.S. Constitution, and the People's and several States' right, arising under the Ninth and Tenth Amendments, to provide redress to those who have suffered damage to their reputation as a result of defamatory publications. *Rosenblatt v. Baer* 383 U.S. 75, 92, 86 S. Ct. 669, 676 (1966) (J. Stewart concurring) ("[t]he protection of private personality, like the protection of life itself, is left primarily to the individual States under the Ninth and Tenth Amendments. But this does not mean that the right is entitled to any less recognition by this Court as a basic of our constitutional system.")

In 1964, the U.S. Supreme Court rendered the Seminole decision of *New York Times Co. v. Sullivan*, 376 U.S. 254, 84 S. Ct. 710, (1964), wherein the burdens of proof and standards of proof regarding defamation were substantially altered in defamation cases involving public officials. The *New York Times* decision sought to balance the interest of the First Amendment in having a free and open press and the individual's interest in protecting one's reputation. *See id.* at 264, 84 S. Ct. at 717 ("We hold that the rule of law applied by the Alabama courts is constitutionally deficient for failure to provide the safeguards for freedom of speech and of the press that are required by the First and Fourteenth Amendments in a libel action brought by a public official against critics of his official conduct.")

Spawned from *New York Times* was the now clearly established law that a public official cannot recover "for a defamatory falsehood relating to his official conduct unless he proves that the statement was made with 'actual malice' - that is, with knowledge that it was false or with reckless disregard of whether it was false or not." *Id.* at 279-280, 84 S. Ct. at 726.

The rationale behind the *New York Times* rule is that, pursuant to the First Amendment's protections of freedom of speech and freedom of press that public debate on public issue must not be unduly inhibited. *See id.* at 270, 84 S. Ct. at 721 ("we consider this case against the background of a profound national commitment to the principle that debate on public issues should be uninhibited, robust, and wide-open, and that it may well include vehement, caustic, and sometimes unpleasantly sharp attacks on government and public officials.")

The U.S. Supreme Court later articulated this policy as follows:

The thrust of *New York Times* is that when interests in public discussion are particularly strong, as they were in that case, the Constitution limits the protections afforded by the law of defamation. Where a position in government has such apparent importance that the public has an independent interest in the qualifications and performance of the person who holds it, beyond the general public interest in the qualifications and performance of all government employees, both elements we identified in New York Times are present and the New York Times malice standards apply.

Rosenblatt, 383 U.S. at 86, 86 S. Ct. at 676 (1966).

The common law of defamation is still alive and well, although restricted as it applies to public officials or public figures. Additionally, at common law, the burden of proof was on the publisher to prove the publication was true. The U.S. Supreme Court has shifted that burden to the Plaintiff in a defamation action to prove the publication was false where the publication is about a private individual but is about matters of public concern. *See Philadelphia Newspapers* 

v. Hepps, 475 U.S. 767, 776, 106 S. Ct. 1558, 1564 (1986) ("[w]e believe that the common law's rule on falsity - that the defendant must bear the burden of proving truth – must similarly fall here to a constitutional requirement that the plaintiff bear the burden of showing falsity, as well as fault, before recovering damages.")

In short, the individual States retain the right to provide civil redress for defamatory speech under the common law so long as the contextual standards of *New York Times* and its progeny applicable to public officials, public figures and matters of public concern are kept. *See Gertz v. Robert Welch*, 418 U.S. 323, 347, 94 S. Ct. 2997, 3010 (1974) ("[w]e hold that, so long as they do not impose liability without fault, the States may define for themselves the appropriate standard of liability for a publisher or broadcaster of defamatory falsehood injurious to a private individual.") (cited with approval in *Wiemer v. Rankin*, 117 Idaho 566, 574, 790 P.2d 347, 355 (1990)); *Hepps*, 475 U.S. at 775, 106 S. Ct. at 1563 ("[w]hen the speech is of exclusively private concern and the plaintiff is a private figure, as in *Dun & Bradstreet*, the constitutional requirements do not necessarily force any change in at least some of the features of the common-law landscape.")

For the reasons set forth below, this Court should hold that Verity is not a public official or public figure. Additionally, this Court should reject Appellant's and *Amici's* invitation to further strip an individual whose reputation is harmed by negligent publication of falsehood of his or her right to seek redress. The present state of the law of defamation adequately balances societies' interest in the freedom of the press and freedom of speech found in the First Amendment with individual interests and in protecting his or her reputation and the states' interest in providing redress for defamation.

## 2. <u>Public School Teachers And Coaches Are Not Public Officials/Figures And Should Not Be Treated As Public Officials/Figures.</u>

The *New York Times*' "public official" standard was designed to ensure robust and free debate over both public issues and "those persons who are in a position significantly to influence the resolution of those issues." *Rosenblatt*, 383 U.S. at 85, 86 S. Ct. at 675 (1966). In *Gertz*, the U.S. Supreme Court provided the framework from which this Court should analyze whether Verity is a public official.

The *Gertz* court expressly agreed with the *New York Times*' actual malice standard applicable to public figures and public officials, but also expressly declined to extend that standard to private individuals even where the publisher was a media defendant. 418 U.S. at 343, 94 S. Ct. at 3008. First, the *Gertz* court recognized that public figures and officials are in a better position to combat defamatory publications by virtue of their status in the public's eye. The Court reasoned "[p]rivate individuals are therefore more vulnerable [than public officials] to injury, and the state interest in protecting them is correspondingly greater. *Id.* at 344, 94 S. Ct. at 3009.

Secondly, the *Gertz* court recognized that public officials/figures undertake a sort of assumption of risk by voluntarily placing themselves in the public domain (public official) or accepting the benefit of being in the forefront of the public (public figure). *See id.* As such, private individuals are more deserving of redress for defamatory speech than are public figures and public officials. *See id.* 

#### A. Verity was not a public official.

Appellants contend Verity is a public official merely because he was a school teacher and coach. This contention has been rejected by several other states and should be rejected by this Court. See, e.g., Poe v. San Antonio Express-News Corp., 590 S.W.2d 537, 540 (Tex. Civ. App. 1979) (reversing the trial court's characterization of a public school teacher as a public figure); Richmond Newspapers, Inc. v. Lipscomb, 234 Va. 277, 286-87, 362 S.E.2d 32, 37 (1987) (holding that a teacher, who was not an elected official, did not influence or appear to influence or control any public affairs or school policy and therefore was not a public official under New York Times); Franklin v. Benevolent & Protective Order of Elks, 97 Cal. App. 3d 915, 924, 159 Cal. Rptr. 131, 136-37 (1979) ("[w]e conclude that an appropriate balancing of freedom of expression against sanctity of reputation does not require, and that appropriate regard for the role of the classroom teacher in our society should not permit, extension of the public official concept to a school teacher 'entirely apart from the scrutiny and discussion occasioned by the particular charges in controversy.") (quoting Rosenblatt, supra). Milkovich v. News-Herald, 15 Ohio St. 3d 292, 297, 473 N.E.2d 1191, 1195 (1984) (cert. den. Lorain Journal Co. v. Milkovich, 474, U.S. 953, 106 Sup. Ct. 326 (1985) (holding that a prominent wrestling coach, although, "recognized and admired in his community for his coaching achievements, he does not occupy a

position of persuasive power and influence by virtue of those achievements . . ." and "[b]y the same token, [the wrestling coach's] position in his community does not put him at the forefront of public controversies where he would attempt to exert influence over the resolution of those controversies."); *Nodar v. Galbreath*, 462 So. 2d 803, 808 (Fla. 1984) (refusing to characterize a public high school English teacher as a public figure). The *Nodar* court wisely recognized the problem with characterizing school teachers as public figures and rejected the idea that "one who accepts a position as a teacher in a public high school thereby effects the same kind of surrender of the right to vindicate defamation as does one who seeks or accepts an elected or policymaking position with a public body or government institution." *Nodar* 462 So. 2d at 808.

Applying the *Gertz* principals to the present case leads to only one reasonable conclusion - Verity is not a public official.

First, Verity did not hold a position of persuasive power and influence by virtue of his position as a high school teacher or coach. A school teacher and coach has limited, albeit important, influence over a very small group of people – his or her students and athletes. It is not the kind of broad influence that generates general public interest in the position held. Stated differently, the general public does not have any interest in how a particular teacher performs his or her duty. The interest in the performance of a teacher or coach comes from his students and athletes and their families. The decisions a school teacher and his conduct makes does not directly affect the general public and does not influence public policy.

Second, a school teacher or coach generally, and Verity specifically, are not better situated than a private citizen to combat falsehoods because of holding the position of school teacher or coach. Verity's teaching and coaching position did not give him a unique platform *vis-à-vis* a private individual to defend himself and refute defamatory speech like a politician or famous person.

Third, Verity has not accepted public office or assumed an "influential role in ordering society." *Gertz*, 418 U.S. at 345, 94 S. Ct. at 3010. To hold otherwise would discourage individuals from becoming public teachers at a time when Idaho is already having a difficult time recruiting educators and coaches.

The injustice of stripping public school teachers and coaches of redress for non-malicious defamation is underscored when one considers the fact that the same standard would not be applied to private school teachers. Private school teachers are in no sense of the word "public" officials or "public figures." And yet Appellants are asking this Court to expose public school teachers to defamation without the same level of redress that their private school teacher counterparts enjoy. This is wholly unjust and would undoubtedly exacerbate the difficulty of public school teacher and coach recruitment. Verity is not a public official.

#### B. Verity was not a public figure.

Similarly, Verity is not a public figure. This Court in *Wiemer*, 117 Idaho 566, 790 P.2d 347 (1990) set forth two independent tests articulated by the U.S. Supreme Court to determine whether an individual is a public figure. First, one is a public figure if he occupies "a position of such 'persuasive power and influence' that he could be deemed one of that small group of individuals who are public figures for all purposes." *Wiemer*, 117 Idaho at 570, 790 P.2d at 351

(citing Wolston v. Reader's Digest Ass'n, 443 U.S. 157, 165, 99 S. Ct. 2701, 2706, 61 L.Ed.2d 450, 458 (1979).

Second, a person could be a public figure if he thrusts himself "to the forefront of particular public controversies in order to influence the resolution of the issues involved." *Id.* (quoting *Gertz*, 418 U.S. 323, 345, 94 S. Ct. 2997, 3009, 41 L.Ed.2d 789, 808 (1974)). In that case, that person is a public figure "for the limited purpose of comment on his or her connection with, or involvement in, the particular controversy." *Id.* Verity fits into neither of the two public figure categories described in *Wiemer*. Verity is not a public figure.

# C. The modified standard of *Hepps* governs school teacher where the publication is about conduct of the teacher related to his or her employment.

The well-reasoned decision of the trial court that Verity is not a public official or public figure should be affirmed. Although there might be circumstances where a public school teacher could be a public figure - e.g. if he or she is also an elected school board member, is actively involved in administrative decisions of the school or has taken an overt and active public position on a particular public dispute – those circumstances do not exist here. There is no valid public policy reason to treat Verity as a public official or public figure.

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